I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Kebede Admasu, et a!, ask this Court to accept review of the 

decision designated in Part II below. 

II. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS 

The Petitioners before this Court consist of hundreds of 

Washington citizens who began experiencing severe, constant disruptions 

to the enjoyment of their properties-including jet noise, vibrations, soot, 

and fumes due to increased overhead flights-immediately after 

Defendant Port of Seattle ("Port") began operations on its newly

constructed third runway ("Third Runway") at Seattle-Tacoma 

International Airport. Petitioners then filed a proposed class action 

lawsuit against the Port, alleging damages under an inverse condemnation 

cause of action and moving for certification under CR 23(b )(3). The trial 

court denied class certification, reasoning that inverse condemnation 

claims require an individualized showing of diminution in property value 

to establish both liability and damages and, thus, common issues of fact or 

law did not predominate over individual Issues (the "predominance" 

criterion") and that a class action was not a superior method of 

adjudicating Petitioners' claims due to the existence of those 

individualized issues (the "superiority" criterion). 

In an originally unpublished decision, Division One affirmed the 

trial court's denial of class certification, holding that Petitioners failed to 

satisfy CR 23(b)(3)'s predominance and superiority criteria. Admasu v. 

Port of Seattle,_ Wn. App. _, _ P.3d _, 2014 WL 7339741, at 
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*2-4 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 27, 2014). On December 18, 2014, Division 

One entered an order granting the Port's motion to publish its decision. 

Petitioners now request this court to review Division One's decision. 

Division One held that Petitioners failed to meet the predominance 

criterion because ( 1) "[g]eneralized evidence of diminished value and 

generalized proof that the diminished value resulted from airport 

operations would not establish liability for inverse condemnation" and (2) 

the "Class Plaintiffs [sic] proposed methodology for demonstrating class-

wide diminution in value [was] not sufficiently concrete" to establish that 

common issues predominated over individual issues. Admasu, 2014 WL 

7339741, at *3. Division One also held that Petitioners failed to meet the 

superiority criterion because (1) of "the many individual inquiries that 

would be required to determine both liability and damages" and (2) "a 

class action where the plaintiffs would likely allocate individual damages 

based on a class-wide diminution in value is not superior to individual 

actions where the plaintiffs would prove property-specific diminution in 

value." Admasu, 2014 WL 7339741, at *4. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (b)(2) 
because the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is in conflict 
with previous decisions of the Court of Appeals and this 
Court? 

B. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b )( 4) because this 
case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should 
be determined by the Supreme Court? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
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A. The Third Runway's Impact On Nearby Communities 

In November 2008, the Port began operations on the Third 

Runway. 1 The Port built the Third Runway 1, 7 50 feet west of the existing 

runways (i.e., 113 of a mile),2 and the Third Runway is responsible for 

33% of arriving air traffic (e.g., approximately 52,320 arrivals in 2010, or 

143 planes per day).3 The Third Runway changed flight patterns, 

including overflights from "propeller-driven aircraft that are required to 

tum on takeoff to avoid being overtaken by faster jet aircraft that are 

taking off behind them."4 

Unsurprisingly, the Third Runway's operations immediately began 

impacting the surrounding neighborhoods to their detriment. The Port 

received hundreds of complaints (a 350% increase) immediately after the 

Third Runway opened. 5 And the complaints of property owners described 

the Third Runway's negative impacts in no uncertain terms. As stated by 

one property owner, "Before, when the planes were in a landing pattern a 

half-mile away, there was little noise."6 Property owners were able to 

enjoy their backyards, carry on conversations without difficulty, watch 

television without issue, and use electronic devices without any signal 

interference. 7 After the Port began operations on the Third Runway, 

however, property owners in the vicinity became prisoners in their own 

1 Clerks Papers (CP) at 3937. 
2 CP at 1502. 
3 CP at 1295; see also CP at 1523 (reflecting a total of313,954 flights in 2010). 
4 CP at 1503. 
5 CP at 1051-1054, 1103 (noting an increase in complaints per month by a factor of 3.5) 
6 CP at 3588-3589. 
7 CP at 3445-3446; 3452-3453; 3470-3472; 3542; 3548; 3580-3581. 
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homes, unable to enjoy their outside property. Children no longer played 

outside, homeowners no longer went for walks or bike rides, and 

neighbors no longer held conversations outside.8 As another property 

owner aptly summarized, "You never see anyone out and about."9 

For some owners, not even remaining locked inside with all the 

windows and doors shut brought relief. 10 The Third Runway has brought 

aircraft directly overhead at low altitudes, and consequently, the noise was 

not only louder but significantly more intense. 11 The thrust of jet engines 

now shook houses, causing so much vibration that glassware rattled, light 

bulbs unscrewed, and nails backed out of sidewall. 12 The aircraft also 

disrupted electronic signals, interfered with cellular phone conversations, 

and disrupted satellite television transmissions. 13 Along with these issues, 

the aircraft using the Third Runway substantially increased the amount of 

dust and soot falling on homes and caused jet fuel odor. 14 Furthermore, 

imprisoning those affected by the Third Runway drastically changed the 

character of the neighborhoods, essentially causing blight. 15 With 

reduced property values, some property owners stopped maintaining their 

homes and tending to their yards. 16 

B. Procedural History 

8CP at 3470-3472; 3518-3519; 3542; 3573-3574; 3580-3581. 
9 CP at 3573-3574. 
1° CP at 3525; 3573-3574. 
11 CP at 3542; 3518-3519; 3548; 3588-3589. 
12 CP at 3580-3581; 3489-3490; 3593-3594. 
13 CP at 3445-3446; 3452-3453; 3470-3471; 3542; 3548; 3566; 3580-3581. 
14 CP at 3445-3446; 3452-3453; 3470-3471; 3548; 3580-3581; 3588-3589; 3593-3594. 
15 CP at 3489-3490; 3566-3567. 
16 CP at 3566-3567. 
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1. Petitioners Seek Class Certification 

Seeking relief from the detrimental impacts of Third Runway 

operations on property owners within its vicinity, Petitioners filed a class 

action complaint. 17 Petitioners then moved for class certification. 18 The 

trial court entered an order denying class certification, but permitting 

Petitioners to file another class certification motion. 19 Petitioners filed a 

Second Amended Motion for Class Certification, which the trial court 

again denied.20 

Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint was before the trial court 

when it considered Petitioners' Second Amended Motion for Class 

Certification. In their Second Amended Complaint, Petitioners alleged: 

By reason of the third runway's close proximity to 
the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties, the flight 
path of aircraft originating and arriving at Sea-Tac Airport 
is located in the vicinity of Plaintiffs' and Class Members' 
properties. The number of airplanes passing in the vicinity 
of Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties has increased 
dramatically. Such airplanes, on take-off and landing, use 
the third runway at all hours of the day and night. The 
aircraft fly over private property in Sea-Tac Airport's 
vicinity at a low altitude. The increase in air traffic passing 
over the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties in close 
proximity to the properties has created heightened noise 
pollution, increased vibration, and increased toxic 
discharge and fumes, all of which have negative physical 
effects on Plaintiffs, Class Members, and other inhabitants 
of their homes.21 

Based on this factual predicate, Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint 

17 CP at 165. 
18 CP at 37,219. 
19 CP at 897-898 
2° CP at 1256, 2055. 
21 CP at 170. 
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presented a single cause of action-inverse condemnation-and 

specifically alleged: 

As a direct and proximate result of the increased 
airport operations at Sea-Tac Airport, including the use of 
the third runway following its construction, Defendant has 
substantially interfered with the practical use and 
enjoyment of Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties. 
By doing so, Defendant has caused a diminution in the fair 
market value of the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' 
properties and has taken and/or damaged the Plaintiffs' and 
Class Members' properties without the payment of just 
compensation and without due process of law, contrary to 
the United States Constitution and the Washington State 
Constitution.22 

In their Second Amended Motion for Class Certification, 

Petitioners proposed two separate classes, Class A and B. 23 

11. Class definition 

Petitioners defined Class A as (1) residential property owners (2) 

who as of November 20, 2008, have or had interests in real property (3) 

located within the areas north, west, and south of the third runway of 

Seattle-Tacoma International Airport.24 Petitioners developed the criteria 

for Class A by cross-referencing the Port's 2009 INM noise contours, the 

Port's complaint data, and a social survey of 936 residents in the proposed 

class area. 25 

Petitioners' notse expert, Dr. Sanford Fidell, undertook an 

22 CP at 173 (emphasis added). 
23 CP at 1258. Petitioners submitted visual representations of the two proposed classes 
plotted on a map. CP at 1005, 1007. Petitioners did not appeal from the trial court's 
denial of certification of Class B. 
24 CP at 1011, 1260. 
25 !d. 
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extensive social survey of 936 property owners to measure the actual 

community reaction to airport externalities approximately one year after 

the Port started using the third runway.26 In Dr. Fidell's survey, 43% (402 

of 936) of the respondents described themselves as highly annoyed by 

aircraft noise over the prior year.27 In general, the results of Dr. Fidell's 

survey discovered that "the noise and vibration associated with aircraft 

operations on [the Third Runway] highly annoy, disturb the sleep, and 

interfere with the speech of substantial proportions of the residential 

population living north, south, and west of the airport."28 Many survey 

respondents also reported that "[t]he soot and fumes associated with 

increased aircraft operations was also annoying."29 

Most importantly, the survey's results revealed that 12.9% of the 

population in neighborhoods in the Third Runway's vicinity reported 

being "highly annoyed" at a Day-Night Average Sound Level (DNL)30 of 

51 decibels (dB), a substantially lower threshold than the 65 dB DNL 

predicted by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and relied on by 

the Port. 31 These findings were important because federal regulations of 

airport noise impacts define "significant noise impacts" as occurring when 

more than 12.9% of the population in a given area is highly annoyed by 

26 CP at 1086, 1096. 
27 CP at 1097. 
28 CP at 1086. 
29 !d. 
30 "DNL is ... a cumulative measure of environmental noise exposure ... embraced by 
the [Federal Aviation Administration]. CP at 1041. 
31 CP at 1044-1047, 1050-1051. 
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aircraft noise.32 Thus, Dr. Fidell opined that the boundary of one class of 

property owners suffering "significant impacts" from the Third Runway's 

operations "included all property within the airport's [51 dB DNL] aircraft 

noise exposure contour as of2009."33 

Accordingly, Petitioners compared the findings of significant noise 

impacts with the Port's noise data and concluded that residents 

experiencing noise exposure of at least 51 dB DNL correlated to 

significant noise impacts as defined by the FAA. 34 Petitioners next 

examined the Port's 2009 actual DNL contours and plotted them on a 

map.35 Thus, the western boundary of Class A is the edges of the 51 dB 

DNL contour as provided by the Port (i.e., where 12.9% or more of the 

local population are highly annoyed). 36 

Furthermore, Dr. Fidell analyzed the actual complaint data 

collected by the Port that reflects the change in complaints from property 

owners before and after the opening of the Third Runway.37 The northern 

and southern boundaries of Class A reflected the spread of these 

intensifying complaints.38 Not surprisingly, Class A contained an 

32 CP at 1046-1047. 
33 CP at 1054. 
34 CP at 1260-1261. 
35 The Port of Seattle is required to collect the underlying noise data and to periodically 
update its noise contour maps in order to qualify for federal noise mitigation grant 
money. See 49 C.F.R. 47504 ("Noise compatibility programs"). The Port of Seattle is 
currently in the process of preparing its next Part 150 study update for the FAA. See Port 
of Seattle, Seattle-Tacoma International Airport Part 150 Study Update website, at 
www.airportsites.net/SEA-Part 150. 
36 See CP at 1054. 
37 CP at 1051-1054, 1103-1107. 
38 See CP at 1009, 1011. 
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overwhelming majority of the property owners who contacted Petitioners' 

counsel regarding possible action against the Port.39 

Moreover, because Petitioners' claims arose out of the use of the 

westernmost Third Runway, logic suggested that residents east of the 

airport do not share a common experience with west-side residents. Thus, 

the eastern boundary of Class A lay along the extended centerline of the 

second runway (16C, 34C) of Sea-Tac Airport.40 

Finally, the Port asserted that avigation easements precluded relief 

for at least some of the property owners who fell within the contours of 

Class A, including Miriam Bearse and John McKinney. Because of the 

common factual and legal issues regarding the easements, Plaintiffs 

proposed to divide Class A into two subclasses: a subclass with easements 

and a subclass without easements.41 

111. Valuation Experts 

In order to establish the diminution of property value suffered by 

the class members, Petitioners retained Dr. Ronald Throupe and Wayne 

Hunsperger, Member of the Appraisal Institute and Senior Residential 

Appraiser, as valuation experts.42 According to Petitioners' valuation 

experts, Petitioners' proposed class "exhibit[ ed] commonalities such that 

any economic impact on value from an environmental disamenity [could] 

be measured using commonly employed appraisal techniques."43 

39 See CP at 1011, 1024-1029. 
4° CP at 1261. 
41 CP at 1262. 
42 CP at 1214-1218, CP at 1149-1155. 
43 CP at 1153. 
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Hunsperger proposed the usage of "[ m ]ultivariate statistics or regression 

modeling ... to quantify the relationship between a dependent variable 

and one or more independent variables."44 Hunsperger testified that this 

methodology would control for the impacts of the other two runways, as 

the impacts of the previous two runways "are inherent in the baseline 

[property] values because they've been there for a long time. That's 

already built in"45 

Hunsperger also made clear that the methodology would not 

measure noise, overflight frequencies, or odors in the class area, but would 

measure the Third Runway's impact on properties within the class area as 

a diminution in property values reflected as dollar amounts.46 Hunsperger 

reiterated that this methodology would demonstrate the Third Runway's 

impacts on affected properties, as the "impacts [were] the dependent 

variable that we're solving for in the equation."47 Thus, "the logic of the 

model" would support causation of diminution of class property values by 

the Third Runway's operations, and quantification of the Third Runway's 

impacts could be further supplemented by social opinion surveys of 

affected areas, such as Dr. Fidell's study, and "paired sales analysis."48 

Under the valuation experts' proposed methodology, individual 

property characteristics "such as quality, type, size, and age [would] not 

44 !d. 
45 CP at 1907. 
46 CP at 1905. 
47 CP at 1903; see also CP at 1893 ("[W]e'll solve probably for a variable that has to do 
with noise-related impacts."). 
48 CP at 1895, 1903-1904. 
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change the substantial common elements among the individual properties 

in evaluating impacts of the effective negative externalities on them."49 

In any event, such individual characteristics would be accounted for as 

independent variables in the methodology and could be analyzed en 

masse, such as applying the county assessor's ratios to subareas.50 

Throupe and Hunsperger also testified that, once the methodology 

determined the aggregate diminution in value of class properties, the 

diminution could be apportioned to each individual property through 

usage ofthe assessor's ratio. 51 

IV. The trial court's denial of certification 

In its order denying class certification, the trial court found that 

Petitioners met many of the requirements for class certification. 52 

However, the trial court concluded that Petitioners failed to meet the 

"predominance" requirement of CR 23(b)(3), i.e., "that common legal and 

factual issues predominate over individual issues."53 The trial court 

reasoned that, under Washington law, a plaintiff's showing of a 

"permanent, measurable diminution in market value" of a plaintiff's 

property is "not simply the measure of damages in an inverse 

condemnation case - it is an element for establishing whether a taking has 

occurred at all."54 It further reasoned, "[Petitioners] have presented no 

49 CP at 1153. 
50 !d.; CP at 1861-1862, 1893. 
51 CP at 1861-1862, 1894-1895. 
52 CP 2062-2065. 
53 /d. 
54 CP at 2067 (citing Martin v. Port of Seattle, 64 Wn.2d 309, 318-20, 391 P.2d 540 
(1964)). 
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methodology for proving a class-wide diminution of property values based 

on alleged increases in noise, vibrations or emissions attributable to the 

Third Runway."55 The trial court concluded that, because the "pivotal 

issue of liability, including the related questions of causation and defenses 

to liability" required a number of property-specific determinations, 

individual issues predominated over common issues in the case. 56 

Finally, the trial court ruled that Petitioners failed to meet the 

"superiority" requirement of CR 23(b )(3), i.e., "that 'a class action is 

superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication 

of the controversy."'57 It reasoned, "Diminution in market value is so 

wedded to noise invasion that the former cannot be proved without again 

proving the latter."58 Thus, it concluded, "The evidence necessary to 

establish liability to the class would have to be considered again in each 

property owner's damages case."59 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (b)(2) because 
Division One's decision is in conflict with multiple decisions of 
the Court of Appeals and this Court. 

RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (b)(2) provide that review will be accepted 

where the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with another decision 

of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Division One's holdings that 

Petitioners could not satisfy either CR 23(b )(3)' s "predominance" or its 

55 CP at 2067. 
56 !d. 
57 CP at 2068. 
58 !d. (internal quotation marks omitted). 
59 !d. 
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"superiority" criteria for class certification due to the existence of 

individualized issues of liability and damages are in conflict with previous 

decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court. 

First, Division One's holding that Petitioners failed to meet CR 

23(b)(3)'s predominance criterion due to the existence of individualized 

issues in this case is in stark conflict with Division Two's holding in Smith 

v. Behr Process Corp., 113 Wn. App. 306, 323, 54 P.3d 665 (2002). In 

Behr, the trial court certified a class action alleging that several Behr 

products, "intended for use on exterior wood surfaces, caused extensive 

mildew damage to class members' homes." Behr, 113 Wn. App. at 315. 

On appeal, Behr argued that the trial court incorrectly ruled that the 

plaintiffs met CR 23(b)(3)'s predominance requirement because "product 

liability cases involving 'multiple disparate incidents', rather than a single 

incident such as an airplane crash, 'defy common adjudication."' Id. at 

319 (quoting Behr' s Br. at 77). But Division Two rejected Behr' s 

argument, holding: 

In deciding whether common issues predominate over 
individual ones, the court is engaged in a '"pragmatic' 
inquiry into whether there is a 'common nucleus of 
operative facts' to each class member's claim." Clark v. 
Bonded Adjustment Co., 204 F.R.D. 662, 666 (E.D. Wash. 
2002) (quoting 7A Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller 
& Mary Kay Kane, Fed. Practice & Procedure § 1778 (2d 
ed. 1986)). That class members may eventually have to 
make an individual showing of damages does not preclude 
class certification. Blackie v. Barrack, 524 F .2d 891, 905 
(9th Cir. 1975); Osborne [v. Subaru of Am., Inc., 198 Cal. 
App. 3d 646,243 Cal.Rptr. 815,821 (Cal. Ct. App. 1988)]. 
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Id. at 323. Applying this standard, Division Two observed that "the 

putative class members' claims arose from a common nucleus of operative 

facts involving the formulation, manufacture, and sale of Behr' s allegedly 

defective products." Behr, 113 Wn. App. at 323. Thus, Division Two 

concluded that the trial court properly determined that plaintiffs had met 

the predominance criterion and certified the class. Id. 

Likewise, Division One's decision in this case is in conflict with its 

own decision in Sitton v. State Farm. Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 Wn. App. 

245, 63 P.3d 198 (2003). In Sitton, the trial court certified a class action 

alleging that State Farm used "medical utilization reviews" of claims 

submitted by insureds under their State Farm personal injury protection 

("PIP') policies in bad faith for the sole purpose of denying or limiting 

payments of benefits to the insureds. Sitton, 116 Wn. App. at 248-49. 

On review, State Farm argued that certification of the class was 

inappropriate because the plaintiffs could not meet CR 23(b)(3)'s 

predominance requirement. Id. at 254. Specifically, State Farm 

contended that "the claims of each class member will necessarily require 

litigation regarding the facts of each accident, the medical condition of 

each insured, the specific action taken by each review panel, individual 

causation, and individual damages." Id. Division One rejected State 

Farm's arguments, however, and applied the Behr "common nucleus of 

operative facts" predominance standard. Id. at 255-56. It held: 

Under State Farm's interpretation of the 
predominance requirement, no subsection (b )(3) class could 
be certified where the claim requires resolution of 
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individual issues such as causation and harm. We reject this 
interpretation of the rule as inconsistent with the purpose of 
class actions and as failing to consider judicial economy. 
Here, the central allegation is that State Farm's utilization 
reviews are not for the purpose of determining whether 
medical treatment is covered, but are a means to wrongfully 
deny or limit benefits. A common nucleus of operative 
facts appears to exist on this issue, and that satisfies the 
predominance standard of CR 23(b )(3). 

!d. at 256. 

Like the plaintiffs in Behr and Sitton, Petitioners m this case 

asserted a "common nucleus of operative facts": 

As a direct and proximate result of the increased 
airport operations at Sea-Tac Airport, including the use of 
the third runway following its construction ... Defendant 
has caused a diminution in the fair market value of the 
Plaintiffs' and Class Members' properties and has taken 
and/or damaged the Plaintiffs' and Class Members' 
properties without the payment of just compensation and 
without due process of law. 

And the evidence in the record, including Dr. Sanford Fidell's social 

survey, demonstrated the existence of this common nucleus.60 

Accordingly, Petitioners made a sufficient showing to satisfy CR 

23(b)(3)'s predominance requirement under Behr and Sitton. 

Moreover, Division One's holding that Petitioners' proposed 

methodology for establishing the Port's liability and the class's damages 

by deriving an aggregate, class-wide measure of diminished value and 

allocating individual damages to each class member was insufficient to

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