RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 19, 2015, 2:44 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 70220-3-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 91379-1

KEBEDE ADMASU, *et al.*,

Petitioners,

v.

THE PORT OF SEATTLE, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

FILED

MAR -9 2015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON ORF

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE PORT OF SEATTLE

Traci M. Goodwin, WSBA No. 14974
Senior Port Counsel

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC

Tim J. Filer, WSBA No. 16285
Patrick J. Mullaney, WSBA No. 21982
Adrian Urquhart Winder, WSBA No. 38071

1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3400
Seattle, Washington 98101-3299
Telephone: (206) 447-4400

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners identify no persuasive reason why this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals gave the appropriate substantial deference afforded to class certification decisions and applied well-established law on class certification and inverse condemnation. The decision does not conflict with authority from this Court or the Court of Appeals. Nor does this case present an issue of substantial public interest requiring a determination by the Supreme Court.

A. **Class Certification Orders Are Affirmed Unless They Constitute A Manifest Abuse Of Discretion.**

Appellate courts in Washington review decisions on class certification for “manifest abuse of discretion.” *Lacey Nursing Ctr.*, 128 Wn.2d at 47. As this Court has explained: “The standard of review is paramount in this case: it is not our place to substitute our judgment for that of the trial court.” *Schnall*, 171 Wn.2d at 266. The trial court’s decision to deny class certification “is afforded a substantial amount of deference.” *Id.* If the record indicates the court properly considered all CR 23 criteria, the appellate court must affirm. *Lacey Nursing Ctr.*, 128 Wn.2d at 47. Petitioners do not dispute this deferential standard of review, which the Court of Appeals applied. Opinion at 4.

statute and remanded certain other claims for further proceedings on procedural grounds. *Id.* at 13-16. No party seeks review by this Court of those rulings.

B. Plaintiffs Have The Burden Of Showing That The Case Meets All Of The Requirements Of CR 23.

Class actions are an exception to the usual rule that litigation is conducted by the individual named parties. *Comcast Corp. v. Behrend*, 133 S. Ct. 1426, 1432, 185 L. Ed. 2d 515 (2013). Strict conformity with each element of CR 23 is required, and plaintiffs bear the burden of proving the case meets all of CR 23's requirements. *DeFunis v. Odegaard*, 84 Wn.2d 617, 622, 529 P.2d 438 (1974); *Weston v. Emerald City Pizza LLC*, 137 Wn. App. 164, 168, 151 P.3d 1090 (2007). The plaintiffs must "prove that there are *in fact* sufficiently numerous parties, common questions of law or fact, etc." *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes*, 131 S. Ct. 2541, 2251, 180 L. Ed. 2d 374 (2011) (emphasis in original); *Schwendeman v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 116 Wn. App. 9, 18-19, 65 P.3d 1 (2003). Statistical or damages models must be presented and tested, must match the asserted theory of liability, and must produce results on a class-wide basis. *Oda v. State*, 111 Wn. App. 79, 94, 44 P.3d 8, *review denied*, 147 Wn.2d 1018 (2002); *see also Comcast Corp.*, 133 S. Ct. at 1433-35.

C. The Court Of Appeals' Ruling On Predominance Grounds Does Not Conflict With Other Decisions.

To meet the predominance requirement, a plaintiff must prove that "questions of law or fact common to the members of the class predominate over any questions affecting only individual members." CR 23(b)(3). The

Court of Appeals' decision on predominance in this case does not conflict with the decisions in *Smith*, *Sitton*, or *Moeller* upon which Petitioners rely.

1. The Court Of Appeals Applied The Proper Predominance Standard.

Petitioners first focus on the predominance standard referenced in *Smith* and *Sitton* that there be a “common nucleus of operative facts.” Petition at 13-14. The Court of Appeals here specifically cited to *Sitton* and *Smith* and quoted this language in its decision. Opinion at 5 nn.12-13. It also acknowledged the overarching premise that “the proposed class [be] sufficiently cohesive to warrant adjudication by class representation.” *Id.* at 5; accord *Schwendeman*, 116 Wn. App. at 20. The Court of Appeals did not disregard relevant precedent. To the contrary, it acknowledged and applied long-held class certification standards. The Court of Appeals simply found no abuse of the trial court’s discretion on predominance.

Each of Petitioners’ three cited cases involved situations where the trial court *granted* class certification and the reviewing courts deferred to the trial courts’ determinations that CR 23 was satisfied. *Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 280-81, 267 P.3d 998 (2011); *Sitton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 116 Wn. App. 245, 250, 63 P.3d 198 (2003); *Smith v. Behr Process Corp.*, 113 Wn. App. 306, 322-23, 54 P.3d 665 (2002) (trial court did not abuse “its considerable discretion” in

finding predominance satisfied). Similarly here, the Court of Appeals deferred to the trial court's carefully considered decision to deny certification on predominance grounds. Opinion at 7-8.

2. The Courts' Predominance Decision Follows Washington Inverse Condemnation Authority And Cases From Across The Country.

Petitioners ignore that their cited cases presented facts and claims completely different from those presented here.⁸ *Smith* involved claims that Behr's products were defective and that Behr's product labeling was inadequate. 113 Wn. App. at 323. *Sitton* involved claims of breach of contract, bad faith, and breach of fiduciary duty, where the overriding issue was whether State Farm had a practice of implementing utilization reviews in bad faith. 116 Wn. App. at 249, 254. *Moeller* was also a breach of contract case that involved construction of uniform insurance policy language. 173 Wn.2d at 269.

This case involves a claim of inverse condemnation arising from airplane noise. Such a claim requires a plaintiff to prove a permanent, measurable diminution in the market value of the plaintiff's property that is caused by the aircraft operations. *Martin v. Port of Seattle*, 64 Wn.2d 309, 318-20, 391 P.2d 540 (1964). Diminution in value of a particular

⁸ Indeed, Petitioners' own authority recognizes that a predominance analysis must be based on the specific facts and claims asserted in a particular case. *Sitton*, 116 Wn. App. at 254 n.18.

parcel is not simply the measure of damages in an inverse condemnation case; it is the benchmark for whether a taking has occurred at all. *Id.*

Inverse condemnation raises a multitude of individualized issues. It is a “fundamental maxim that each parcel of land is unique.” *City of San Jose v. Superior Court*, 525 P.2d 701, 711, 115 Cal. Rptr. 797 (Cal. 1974). Assessing how much noise from Third Runway operations reaches a particular parcel requires consideration of its relation to the flight tracks, altitude, direction, and types of planes taking off and landing, other sources of noise, and topography. CP 384. Assessing whether that noise caused a diminution in value involves many factors, including location, zoning, and quality of improvements. CP 1507-08, 1535-40.

Here, the Port’s expert testimony demonstrated that evidence of value would necessarily be specific to each property. Every acquisition of a property right is unique in terms of property value, the highest and best use for the property, the specific influence of the governmental activity, and the extent of the taking. CP 1504. The properties located within the proposed class had completely different values, value influences, noise environments, proximity to the Airport, and noise attributable to the Third Runway. CP 1507-13. Similarly, the Port’s noise expert found nothing “common” about the noise exposure levels experienced by plaintiffs’

properties.⁹ “No wonder courts routinely decline to certify classes in airport-noise cases.” *Bieneman v. City of Chicago*, 864 F.2d 463, 465 (7th Cir. 1988), *cert. denied*, 490 U.S. 1080 (1989).¹⁰

3. The Court Of Appeals’ Decision On Valuation Methods Does Not Conflict With *Moeller*.

Petitioners also compare their proposed methodology for determining class-wide diminution in property value to the methodology presented in *Moeller*, citing extensively to *Moeller*’s dissenting opinion. Petition at 16-17. First, the plaintiff’s provision of a workable model in *Moeller* (not an inverse condemnation case) says nothing about the viability of Petitioners’ incomplete description of what a model might do in this case. *See* Opinion at 6-8. Second, in *Moeller*, this Court again made clear that appellate courts must defer to the trial court’s determinations when it has heard “days of oral argument on this issue and considered extensive briefing.” 173 Wn.2d at 280. There was no abuse of

⁹ CP 1296. For example, the Third Runway’s contribution to noise exposure varied from as much as 52% directly north of the Third Runway to as little as 1% for areas to the west. CP 1297-98, 1317.

¹⁰ *See, e.g., Testwuide v. United States*, 56 Fed. Cl. 755, 761, 765-66 (2003) (rejecting proposed sub-classification of properties based on noise contours and explaining that “[t]he results may differ based on the specific factual circumstances and variables affecting each group that go to the root of the question of whether a taking occurred”); *Virginians for Dulles v. Volpe*, 344 F. Supp. 573, 575 (E.D. Va. 1972), *aff’d in relevant part*, 541 F.2d 442 (4th Cir. 1976); *Town of East Haven v. Eastern Airlines, Inc.*, 331 F. Supp. 16, 18 (D. Conn. 1971), *aff’d*, 470 F.2d 148 (2d Cir. 1972); *Ursin v. New Orleans Aviation Bd.*, 515 So.2d 1087, 1089 (La. 1987); *Ario v. Metro. Airports Comm’n*, 367 N.W.2d 509, 514-16 (Minn. 1985); *City of San Jose*, 525 P.2d at 710-12; *Alevizos v. Metro. Airports Comm’n*, 216 N.W.2d 651, 668 (Minn. 1974) (inverse condemnation claim from airport operations is “incompatible with a class action since there are a multitude of individual issues and an absence of common issues”).

discretion in deciding that the multitude of individualized issues overwhelmed common issues on plaintiffs' inverse condemnation claims.

D. The Court Of Appeals Properly Affirmed The Trial Court's Ruling On Superiority.

CR 23(b)(3) further requires a class action to be *superior, not just as good as*, other available methods for adjudicating the asserted claims. *Schnall*, 171 Wn.2d at 275. "If each class member has to litigate numerous and substantial separate issues to establish his or her right to recover individually, a class action is not 'superior.'" *Zinser v. Accufix Research Inst., Inc.*, 253 F.3d 1180, 1192 (9th Cir. 2001).

Superiority problems are especially prevalent in inverse condemnation cases relating to airport operations. *E.g., Ario*, 367 N.W.2d at 514-16; *City of San Jose*, 525 P.2d at 710-12. Not only do such cases present a multitude of property-specific issues concerning liability, causation, and damages, but there is an inherent overlap between the liability and damages determination. *Martin*, 64 Wn.2d at 318-20; *Ario*, 367 N.W.2d at 515 ("Diminution in market value is so wedded to noise invasion that the former cannot be proved without again proving the latter."). As the *City of San Jose* court observed:

Given the many recognized factors combining to make up the uniqueness of each parcel of land, the number of subclassifications into which the class would be required to be divided to yield any meaningful result would be

substantial. ... The result becomes a statistical permutation, and the requisite number of subclassifications quickly approaches the total number of parcels in the class. Under such circumstances, there is little or no benefit in maintaining the action as a class.

525 P.2d at 711 (denying certification in an airport noise case).

The trial court found the same issues present here. The superiority decision is best left to the trial court, as repeatedly emphasized in *Sitton*, 116 Wn. App. at 256 (case management problems were “a matter best determined by the trial court”) and 260 n.38 (“We emphasize that management of the action is for the trial court.”). *Accord Moeller*, 173 Wn.2d at 280 (deferring to the trial court’s decision on the trial plan). Petitioners provide little analysis and no persuasive support for requesting review of the courts’ superiority determination.

E. There Is No Issue Of Substantial Public Interest Raised In The Petition That Requires This Court’s Review.

This case involves the straightforward application of the rules of class certification. It also involves long-settled law on proving claims for inverse condemnation based on aircraft noise. *See Martin*, 64 Wn.2d 309. Petitioners’ speculation, based on six-year-old data, that future airport expansion projects may present similar claims provides no reason to review this case. Petition at 19-20. Requiring these plaintiffs’ claims to proceed individually or as a consolidated action is not a novel approach in

Washington. Rather, it is how such claims have historically proceeded, as noted by the Court of Appeals. Opinion at 9 n.26 (citing cases). Denial of certification here is also consistent with the overwhelming authority from other jurisdictions. This case simply does not require further review.


V. CONCLUSION

Petitioners have not demonstrated any conflict with a decision of this Court or the other Court of Appeals Divisions and have not identified any issue of substantial public interest requiring this Court's review. The trial court denied class certification because Petitioners failed, after ample opportunity, to show that this case meets all of the requirements of CR 23. The Court of Appeals affirmed that decision. The Petition for Review should be denied.